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For my beloved wife, Ann, who enriched my life beyond measure for 44 years. My sweetheart and my best friend. Her eternal search for beauty ended much too soon.






INTRODUCTION

Reporters are a mixed bunch. Most, having survived their apprenticeship, are adequate providers of copy – the words needed to fill the paper or broadcast. Some are dolts, useful only to send to cover the dull areas that still need to be noted. A select few are brilliant.

Adrian Tame was one held in such high regard. I knew him first in the early ’70s, when we both worked on the Nottingham Evening Post, a vibrant paper in the principal city of the East Midlands of England. He had worked in Fleet Street, and North America, and he was fearless. He was a soldier to lead the charge, and that he did, winning plaudits for his investigative reporting that went beyond the norm. He lived in The Park, a posh part of central Nottingham, and was a bit of a dandy, wearing fashionably loud clothes, and sporting a mass of wiry red hair and a beard. He was married to a lovely woman, Ann, who was blonde, beautiful, elfin and sharp. This modish couple took no prisoners. They were part of that new generation, the children of the ’60s about to take over the ’70s.

I don’t know why he took to me. I was a sub-editor on the Post, not a reporter. But I had long ginger hair, a beard, and wore natty shirts when most wore theirs with loose ties and rolled-up sleeves. I was also a would-be hippy and smoked dope. And I had a car. Adrian did not drive. We thought he never would, never could.

He made it his mission to introduce me to decent music. Like Love’s Forever Changes, Country Joe and the Fish’s Electric Music for the Mind and Body, Van Morrison’s Astral Weeks and the MC5’s Kick out the Jams, Motherfucker. Not a bad education. He introduced me to good food – he had always rejected the dismal offerings that so characterised English dining, and the usual reticence of Brits to make a fuss. We discovered a shared passion for the natural world so we’d take off on forays into the wild – or what passed for the wild in Central England – to smoke Moroccan black, to drink Moroccan red and eat pork pies.

We went our separate ways in 1973 – he exploring Australia, me to Wales then France. When he visited in 1978 he ate three nights running in Cardiff’s best Indian restaurant. Melbourne at that time did not have a lot of spicy wog tucker, as such delights were once described by a prominent parliamentarian, opposing the abolition of tariffs on imported food.

I am not a witness to the Truth years; he can tell that story. I didn’t see him again until 2007, after my son moved to Sydney to work, and I looked him up. Adrian rang me out of the blue and said: ‘I hear you’re coming to Oz.’ So I arranged to see him at Tullamarine Airport.

‘Shall I wear a red rose or something?’ he asked.

I told him to fuck off. ‘It will take me one nanosecond to recognise you,’ I said. And it did, except for two notable changes. His shock of red hair and his beard were now white, and he was driving me back to the Goldfields. Tame, at the wheel of a car, was a scary thought.

I found a man whose temperament had not changed. He was still irascible, waspish, even intolerant, but generous and thoughtful too. He and Ann were always bickering, then loving. I joked to him at the time: ‘You know why your marriage works? It’s still under negotiation. In fact it’s re-negotiated daily.’

I have returned Down Under every year since then, and Adrian has introduced me to the wilds of Australia. He still retains that edge – that pushy factor that sets him apart from most of us, meekly ready to accept second best without a murmur. He was then, and is now, his own man. A great reporter who, faced with the challenge of the next page, is ready to step up, get on with it and tell us the truth.

Chris Segar

Goulven, France

November 2018






1 TOPLESS EDITOR IN PIG MASK HORROR


So this is the Truth?

I’m standing on the pavement outside a squat, grey, three-storey building in the centre of Melbourne, three days after my arrival in Australia from the UK. It’s late December 1973, and I have a job interview with the editor of Australia’s most scurrilous metropolitan newspaper of note… the Truth, or the Old Whore of La Trobe Street, as she’s widely known.

Out front of the Salvation Army hostel next door a number of homeless men are enjoying the mid-morning sunshine, reclining on benches, or sitting in a row on the pavement, backs against the wall, as they sip from bottles encased in crumpled brown paper bags. I climb the stone steps into the newspaper building and take a wheezy old elevator to the third floor. Here in the shabby foyer a receptionist directs me into the bustle and clutter of the Truth newsroom.

I am approached by the editorial secretary, Pearl the Girl, who is dressed in a faux leopard-skin trouser suit. I learn later her most important role is doling out Murdoch’s Magic Carpets – the taxi dockets that send reporters speeding to jobs or, more frequently, pubs across the city, courtesy of the paper’s owner, Rupert Murdoch.

‘Go right in,’ says Pearl, gesturing at a closed door next to her desk. ‘Mr Edwards has someone with him, but he said to send you in.’

Paul Edwards is the editor I’ve arranged to see, but as I open the door and enter his office, I’m unsure which one of the four men gathered around a desk is him. Two of them are naked to the waist, wearing pig masks, and are arm wrestling across the desk. The other two muscle in as close to the action as their bulky cameras will allow.

I should point out at this stage that my experience of newspapers and editors had so far been exclusively mainstream and conservative. I’d worked in the provinces in the UK, where the editor was a bland, faceless individual given to cardigans and shuffling acquiescence; a sports agency in Fleet Street, where they all aspired to become the jocks they wrote about; and the Vancouver Sun, a Canadian daily where the German editor’s most outrageous lifestyle choice was to wear red braces at weekends. Coming across any of them stripped to the waist would have been unsettling. Pig masks even more so.

The smaller of the two wrestlers tips his mask back from his face and glances across at me.

‘Adrian Tame? Have a seat, this won’t take long, and I’ll be right with you.’

I find a chair and try to appear unconcerned by the grunting and cursing of the arm wrestlers and, more alarmingly, the manic cavorting of the two photographers as they jostle and elbow one another for the best vantage point, while simultaneously bellowing their support for the boss.

Edwards breaks off from his exertions, tips the mask back once more and addresses one of the photographers.

‘Fuck off, Dog,’ he says. ‘It doesn’t need two of you. Spider’ll take care of it.’

The arm wrestle between Edwards and the other man, a hulking Victorian Football League player, quickly draws to a close after The Dog’s exit. Edwards explains that it is a promo for the paper’s sports pages, and introduces me courteously to both the footballer and Spider.

The Dog and Spider, I soon discover, are two of the paper’s senior photographers. Spider’s surname is Funnell, so it’s not difficult to work out how he came by his nickname. The Dog’s involves more research. The first fact I later learn about him is that he once handcuffed his wrist to the ankle of a stripper strutting her stuff on the bar of a Californian dive where he was drinking. Claimed he was making a citizen’s arrest on account of her lewd behaviour, and hurled the key to the handcuffs out the door of the bar.

His real name is Brian Fergusson and his canine nickname is another story altogether. Some years before my arrival a young copy boy arrived each morning with lunchtime sandwiches, lovingly wrapped in greaseproof paper by his mother. Each morning The Dog would remove the sandwiches from the boy’s possession and consume them in front of him. Eventually the boy complained to Spider:

‘Mr Funnell, it’s Mr Fergusson. He’s been stealing my sandwiches and eating them.’

‘Why’s he do that?’

‘Hungry, I suppose. But so am I.’

‘Yeah, OK. Here’s what you do. Come in half an hour early tomorrow morning, and tell your Mum to butter the bread, but not to put any filling in them.’

The copy boy did as he was told, and found Spider waiting for him in the dark room with a tin of Pal dog food, the contents of which he carefully spread between the slices of bread. The sandwiches were then re-wrapped in the grease-proof paper to await The Dog’s arrival. Spider swears The Dog ate every last crumb before instructing the copy boy: ‘Tell your Mum to get more of that liver pâté. It goes down a treat.’

So why wouldn’t they call him The Dog?

Meanwhile, back in Paul Edwards’ office, we are joined by David Dark, Edwards’ news editor. It is now I realise I’ve left my clippings and references – in fact any evidence of my previous experience of newspapers – back at the temporary accommodation where my wife, Ann, and two children are awaiting my return.

The only article of note I have is a letter written by Rupert Murdoch’s man in London.

Months earlier, when Ann and I had decided to come to Australia, I had written to The Herald, The Sun and The Age in Melbourne, to The Australian in Sydney, and of course, to Truth, seeking employment.

In late 1973 Australian newspapers, including Truth, were booming. All the papers except Truth wrote back saying they couldn’t possibly offer me a job on the other side of the world, and to come and see them when I arrived in Melbourne. Truth, surprisingly, had offered me the interview in London. I had duly presented myself at the appointed time, only to be informed by a secretary that the Truth representative was still at lunch. I sat waiting, growing increasingly annoyed, for the best part of 90 minutes.

When my man arrived it became instantly clear that his lunch had been a liquid one. He ushered me into his office, ordered black coffees for both of us, and began immediately to regale me with amazing tales of journalistic anarchy, drunkenness and general high jinx. The type of behaviour to which the good Dr Hunter S. Thompson aspired, and had, by then, christened gonzo journalism.

I still remember one deeply disturbing anecdote from the many included in that interview – I said barely a word throughout – involving a primitive rite practised in pubs by Sydney journalists. It was known as the Limp Fall, a title which said everything you needed to know about the sport. Practitioners would announce, when the mood came across them (generally something that happened while standing at the bar) that they were about to indulge. Conversation would end and space would be made for the self-elected faller to shuffle into. He would stand erect for as long as it took him to muster courage, and then slowly start to tilt his body backwards, sometimes from the knees, other times from the waist, but only rarely from the heels.

The challenge was to perform with dignity, and the acid test came, my informant assured me, at the precise mini-second when a bend becomes a fall. Preserving limpness is everything at this moment, and immense status is gained by those who defy the message their brain is frantically communicating to their limbs, and crash backwards to the ground. Those who sacrifice limpness for self-preservation, and jerk out an arresting leg or arm, are lost to all decent company.

That was the kind of local knowledge, most of it grossly inaccurate as it turned out, doled out to me that day in London during this one-sided conversation. It lasted for close to an hour, at the end of which Rupert’s man said: ‘Well, you’re in. I’ll recommend you for a B Grade.’

‘What’s a B Grade?’

It was, it turned out, significantly higher than the wage I had been earning in the provinces in the UK, Fleet Street, or Canada.

‘But you haven’t asked me any questions. You don’t know anything about me,’ I said, and instantly regretted it.

‘No, but you’re not a bad listener. I’ll write you a letter.’

And, surprisingly, he did, after minimal prompting. I delivered the letter to Paul Edwards, and whether as a result of its contents, or my studied nonchalance during the pig mask affair, he offered me a job, or at least a trial. He had brushed aside my lack of clippings, telling me: ‘Doesn’t matter, mate. Wouldn’t want to read your references, you probably wrote them yourself. Same with your clippings, except if they’re any good, someone else probably wrote ’em. Start tomorrow, that’s Tuesday, and you’ve got two weeks to show me what you can do. We’ll either make you permanent, or I’ll flick you.’

I learned later that both Edwards and Dark specialise in hideously dangerous behaviour with office cars. One contest in which they occasionally indulge after lengthy drinking sessions is seeing who can drive the furthest on deserted roads with their eyes closed. This has near-tragic consequences a few months after I join the paper. The car, inevitably, spills off the road into a ditch, causing Edwards severe internal injuries and a period in hospital.

At the time of the accident he’s too anaesthetised to realise the extent of the harm he’s done to himself, and is actually assisting Dark to heave the vehicle out of the ditch when help arrives. Before this happens it’s a regular occurrence, the morning after the twice weekly edition days, for Edwards and Dark to send scouting parties of copy boys off to the city in search of the office car. More than once it’s discovered, bearing recently acquired bruises, in a laneway, doors wide open, lights on, indicators flashing, and the radio blaring. Eventually those responsible for office cars decided Edwards and Dark should use Murdoch’s Magic Carpets like the rest of us.

The other character foible Edwards enjoys involves the meat mincer bolted onto the side of his desk. It’s one of those ancient, metal contraptions that everyone’s grandma once owned for mincing the cold roast lamb for shepherd’s pie. Only Edwards doesn’t use it for that. These are the days long before computers, and Truth reporters, as I soon discover, type their stories on separate sheets of copy paper before taking them into Edwards’ office and handing them to him for his perusal and verdict.

There were later editors, like Bob Gordon, who would balance the pile of paper unread in the palm of a hand, as if weighing it, and pronounce: ‘Feels good to me.’ Or: ‘Needs cutting. Take it back.’ But not Paul Edwards. His speciality with copy is far more twisted than that. On a purely random basis he occasionally takes the copy and wordlessly jams it into the maw of the mincer before starting to crank on the handle.

There’s never any explanation offered, nor even a hint of displeasure. It’s just something he does. It’s also the reason why most reporters keep carbon copies of their stories.

On my first day, the Tuesday, David Dark and a young reporter called John Grant graciously extended a lunchtime invitation to the pub. Within a few years David, a warm and highly likeable individual, had died from excessive indulgence, and John was to become a lifetime friend.

Had I known this was the way their lives would evolve, I might have been more circumspect with my behaviour at the pub. It was called the Duke of Kent, and was the lunchtime lair of one Bob Hawke, head of the Australian Council of Trade Unions (whose offices were just down the road), and prime minister in the making. John pointed out Hawke lurking somewhere in the restaurant section as we approached the bar, where David ordered three glasses of beer.

Less than a week in the country, I had never been in an Australian pub before and was shocked at the size of the glass David handed me. I was used to drinking pints of bitter in the UK, and this thimble-sized offering seemed bizarrely inadequate.

‘I usually drink pints,’ I ventured, totally unaware of the respective strengths of UK and Australian beer.

I missed the glance that doubtless passed between David and John.

‘You want a pint, do you?’ David said, then, gesturing at the barman: ‘Pour this man a pint.’

For the remainder of the hour we stayed at the pub John and David drank glasses, and I drank pints. Probably seven or eight of them. By the time we left – the subject of food had not been raised – I knew I was in deep trouble. I survived the 200-metre stroll back to the office, only just, but the lift was my undoing. By then both my companions had realised the precarious state I was in.

How could they not? All I knew was that the two of them had become four, the lift was travelling sideways instead of vertically, and the liquid contents of my stomach were rising inexorably to my throat. So David and John engaged me in the kind of conversation that demanded a response far beyond the capabilities of one whose vocal cords were drowning in something unthinkable. And the tide was rising.

By the time the lift doors opened on the Truth reception area my cheeks were puffed wide, my mouth full. I lurched across the newsroom, hand clutched to my face, and through the door to the anteroom of the men’s toilets.

I had time only to register relief that no one else was present, when the contents of my stomach erupted in one glorious projectile vomit across the row of wash basins and the mirrors above them. Jesus, was I mortified. First day, no, first morning, and I’ve drenched the joint in Pommy chunder. I took the only course open to me and raced through the anteroom to one of the toilet cubicles, sat down, locked the door and contemplated my future, or lack of it.

I learned later that, as I cowered in the cubicle, half the staff had been silently summoned by John to witness the spectacular outpourings of my gratitude over a friendly invitation for a glass or two. Had I but known it at the time, my conduct had instantly elevated me socially to the upper echelons of the reporting staff.

My foolish presumption was, that by cleaning up the revolting mess, I had miraculously escaped detection and instant dismissal.

Three days later, on the Thursday, Jack ‘Ace’ Ayling, the elder statesman of the newsroom, and a legend of Australian post-war journalism, approached me and threw a friendly arm around my shoulders.

‘How you settlin’, son?’ he asked.

‘Great, thanks Jack.’

‘That’s good. There’s a couple of things. It’s not MelBORN, it’s Melb’n. It sounds stupid when you say MelBORN on the phone.’

‘OK, I’ll remember, Melb’n. What was the other thing?’

His grip tightened around my shoulders: ‘We want you to slow down, you Pommy bastard. Subs reckon you’ve written four stories in two days. That’s more than most of us do in a fortnight. Sets a bad example. Slow the fuck down.’

‘But, Jack, listen. I’ve got one and a half weeks to prove myself, then they’ll make me permanent. Promise I’ll slow down when that happens, OK?’

‘You do what you have to, but don’t make a prick of yourself.’

I didn’t pay as much attention to Jack’s advice as perhaps I should have. I had already worked out the editorial staff were divided into two factions – the middle-aged has-beens like Jack, or the Young Turks, who seemed to do most of the work and definitely did most of the drinking. For reasons closely associated with this liking for strong drink, the Young Turks were known collectively as the Big Rude Boys. Still in my late twenties, I knew which camp I wanted to join, should my trial period be successful. By this stage I had, I hoped, gone some way towards establishing my drinking credentials during the horror lunchtime at the Duke of Kent. Either that or I had destroyed them entirely, and risked instant dismissal.

Had this been the case I would have established a record – just one morning – for brevity of tenure. It would have been a short-lived record. Within a year a middle-aged man had joined the staff, like I had, on a fortnight’s trial on the strength of a story he brought with him about a snake attack. His intro (or opening paragraph) had begun: ‘A giant tiger snake, every inch of its face etched with hate…’ David Dark had seized upon this evidence of a too-vivid imagination, even for Truth, and instantly despatched the man to cover a court case in Prahran, a couple of suburbs away, via one of Murdoch’s Magic Carpets. That was how Edwards and Dark ran things at Truth. Faced with a reporter who clearly perceived accuracy and veracity as expendable commodities, David sent him to court where he could do the maximum amount of damage. It was the same reasoning that saw me appointed as TV critic a few weeks later – largely because I was the only member of the editorial staff who didn’t own a television.

A few hours after the snake man left for court, David had fielded a phone call from a nervous taxi driver: ‘Just wanted to make sure it’s OK,’ said the cabbie. ‘We’re about to cross the border into New South Wales. Your bloke’s been in the pub a while and there’s $280 on the clock. He said it’d be OK…’

David instructed the driver to enter the pub, tell our man he was fired, and leave him there. The $280 would be honoured; of course it would. It was only Rupert’s money. But we never discovered the reason for the flight north. Maybe there was something about his new workmates that unsettled him.

During that first week I witnessed a scene in the newsroom that drove away any doubts I had about the odd behaviour of my colleagues, replacing such doubts with a growing appetite for the lunatic energy of the place.

Starring roles in this little cameo went to the Flying Leotard and Phil Ackman. The Leotard was a small and elderly man dressed in an immaculate three-piece, chalk-striped suit, straw boater and baseball boots. Phil, another who would remain a close friend over decades to come, was a well-dressed Jewish journalist with an abrasive manner. His presence in the newsroom was like sandpaper hanging off a toilet roll holder.

We received several calls a week from readers pretending to be relatives of our scantily clad Page Three girls, and the manner in which Phil dealt with them typified his approach to our readers. ‘Pigbrains’, he always called them. The Page Three calls would go like this:

‘I haven’t seen her for months. Do you have her phone number?’ That sort of thing.

One of Phil’s habits, when fielding such calls, was to ask: ‘Have you got a pen?’

Then: ‘Have you got a piece of paper?’

And finally: ‘Can you write?’

On the occasion of the Flying Leotard’s visit Phil was at his caustic best. The Leotard had somehow passed muster with Leo, the elderly copy boy whose job it was to filter out the merely disruptive from the more entertaining lunatics who arrived at reception each day. Thus endorsed, the Leotard advanced into the centre of the newsroom and announced himself:

‘I’m Max. I used to be with the Flying Leotards trapeze act. There were three of us, we were a quartet, and I want you lot to help me find the other one.’

Phil, sensing easy meat, sprang into action:

‘What do you want to find him for?’ he asked, sitting with his chair pushed away from his desk at the front of the room, legs crossed, mischief lurking beneath his smirk.

‘So we can re-unite and go back on the road, why do you think?’

‘You’re too old for that caper.’

‘No I’m fucking not. I can still walk a wire with the best of ’em.’

‘I doubt it,’ said Phil, rising from his seat, and addressing the rest of us: ‘Anybody reckon the silly old bastard’ll make it across here?’

He patted the paper-strewn surface of his desk, hands flat and fingers spread wide, and grinned evilly at the Leotard:

‘Come on, boy, you can do it.’

With surprising agility for one of his years, the Leotard sprang onto the desk, minced across its length pretending to hold a balancing bar, and hopped off the other side.

‘Now let’s see you do it, smart-arse,’ he sneered at Phil as his baseball boot soles smacked down on the linoleum floor.

Phil grinned at the audience of reporters who had gathered, and scrambled aboard the desk. He was halfway across when the Leotard launched himself at his legs in a highly creditable imitation of a rugby tackle. Phil and the Leotard crashed to the ground off the far side of the desk. John Grant, always a defender of the weak and oppressed, grabbed Phil by his collar and heaved him aloft:

‘Leave the silly old bugger alone. He’ll have a heart attack, he’s four times your age.’

It was at this point I noticed the door to Paul Edwards’ office open. Uh-oh, I thought, here’s trouble. Remarkably only Paul’s head emerged, took in the shambles erupting on the newsroom floor, and disappeared back into his room.

By the time he re-emerged a few seconds later he was wearing an acoustic guitar around his neck. By now a number of other reporters had joined in the melee, some of them assisting John, others wading in on Phil’s behalf.

Paul strode across to the periphery of the action, and began strumming on the guitar. What ensued was a near perfect rendering of ‘Mr Bojangles’, complete with stirring vocal.

I stood up the back of the room, a little removed from it all, reflecting on how wonderful it was. I had landed up in an Antipodean home for the emotionally disturbed, and they were going to pay me a handsome wage for helping them pretend it was a newspaper.

If this was the manner in which the editor disciplined his staff for humiliating a reader, I was in. All for it, the journalistic adventure of a lifetime, as a future owner would describe it.






2 FOLLY, VICE & CRIME


When Truth first hit the streets in the late 1800s its sales pitch described it as: ‘A fearless exposer of folly, vice and crime.’ A High Court Judge of the period had a different view. Summing up in one of the many successful libel actions against the scandal sheet, he famously referred to it as: ‘A wretched little paper, reeking of filth, injurious to the health of house servants and young girls.’

The paper took its name from London Truth, and first appeared on the streets of Sydney in 1879, promising: ‘Verbatim reports of all divorce cases and any interesting and instructive rape and murder cases.’ Unsurprisingly it didn’t last long. As it was about to disappear into liquidation, a rival rag, The Innocents in Sydney, sent it on its way with the following descriptive obituary: ‘The lackbrain, yelping, shady-pated, chowder-skulled and obscenely ridiculous promulgators of piddling, babbling, frothy, doting nonsense, under the prostituted word of Truth.’

Eleven years later, in 1890, Truth reappeared, this time under the ownership of William Willis, a failed actor and storekeeper turned politician. Its first editor, Adolphus George Taylor, known as The Mudgee Camel, ended up in a lunatic asylum, dying from syphilis. But it wasn’t until the self-styled ‘bastard son of a parson’, the infamous John Norton, took over Truth that it came into its own as the scourge of the self-righteous and pompous elite.

Norton began on the paper as a columnist, but soon rose to associate editor, gaining notoriety for his claim that the Prince of Wales was ‘as deaf as an oyster’. When Norton described Queen Victoria as: as ‘a dull and brainless woman’, and ‘a flabby, fat and flatulent-looking scion of the most ignoble line of Royal Georges’, he was charged with sedition. The case was dropped when the jury failed to agree on a verdict.

From the time Norton purchased Truth from Willis in 1896, he wrote the book on tabloid journalism, setting the standards – or lack of them – that would prevail for the next 120 years. Nothing was sacred for this drunken, larger-than-life brawler, not even his own family. When he fought with his wife Ada, and this was a regular occurrence often descending into physical violence on both sides, Truth readers enjoyed full details of who struck whom first and why. A street fighter who never turned the other cheek, Norton spent many a night in the cells, emerging to castigate in print the politicians and high society identities guilty of far less spectacular falls from grace. Sandra Hall’s exhaustively researched Tabloid Man provides a fascinating account of Norton’s turbulent career.

Norton’s son Ezra, who took over the paper in 1922, had appeared in the pages of Truth as an infant, when divorce proceedings between his father and Ada were covered in detail. One incident, when John picked up his three-year-old son by a leg, and threatened to dash his brains out, gives some clue as to the disastrous upbringing young Ezra must have suffered.

When his father died in 1916, four trustees kept the paper in profit until Ezra’s succession to the throne. Over the next 30-odd years, Ezra proved to be less volatile and more shrewd a newspaperman than his father, although he shared the old man’s vituperative contempt for the ruling classes. By the time he retired in the late 1950s, Truth was circulating in Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, Adelaide, Perth and New Zealand with combined sales of close to half a million a week. Ezra also acquired the Sydney Daily Mirror along the way, and entered into a vicious feud with Sir Frank Packer, culminating in a fist fight between the two men during a Sydney race meeting.

The feud went far beyond the fierce competition between their publications, descending to the poaching by Packer of key Truth personnel, and the portrayal of Packer as a jug-eared buffoon in Truth cartoons. The fight at Randwick, on Derby Day, saw Packer come off worse, largely due to the intervention of Ezra’s bodyguard.

Between the two of them, father and son, John and Ezra Norton had established a newspaper empire based on scandal, gossip and acrimony. In 1958, after Ezra’s retirement, the Fairfaxes purchased Truth and the Mirror to keep the Murdochs at bay. But the papers were hardly a good fit for the Fairfaxes’ genteel stable of publications. So they cast around for a buyer… anybody but Rupert. Warwick Fairfax, in particular, was concerned that Murdoch, who had inherited the Adelaide News from his father Sir Keith, could grow to represent a real threat, were he allowed to expand his mini empire. But as Warwick was swanning on a cruise ship between New Zealand and Fiji, his general manager, Rupert Henderson, blessed with less prescience than his boss, went ahead with the sale.

In May 1960, Rupert paid $600,000 up front, with an additional $1.3 million due over the next six years, for Truth, The Daily Mirror and printing plants in Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane. Thus began the Dirty Digger’s ascent into world media dominance.

Initially Murdoch sought to drive the Daily Mirror upmarket, and continued this trend towards respectability by establishing The Australian as the country’s first national daily in 1964. But Truth was where the money came from to finance these audacious moves, and he never forgot that, concentrating, at least initially, on similarly downmarket publications for his subsequent invasions of both Britain and America. Early on he concentrated on sports, largely horse racing, Australian Rules football and boxing, to attract new readership to Truth in Melbourne. By 1964 circulation had hit the 300,000 mark, and the following year Rupert brought over from Fleet Street a man named Solly Chandler to take these figures ever higher. Chandler was an immensely colourful character, and when I joined the paper two years after his six-year tenure ended in tears in 1971, reporters were still telling stories of his legendary exploits. One of his less popular habits was to return from a long liquid lunch and fire the entire reporting and photographic staff, rehiring them the following day. Photographer John Murie to this day remembers returning from an afternoon assignment to find a note pinned to the dark room door reading: ‘Gentlemen photographers, you are all fired.’ Such was Solly’s view of his own exalted position in the newspaper world that he scorned the title editor, and insisted instead on editorial advisor. He made sure that a fresh bottle of cognac was placed in his top drawer every morning. It would be empty by the end of most days.

Despite his eccentricities and hard drinking, Chandler never shirked a challenge, nor betrayed a source of information. After the tragic collision of the Royal Australian Navy destroyer Voyager with the aircraft carrier Melbourne in 1964, killing a total of 82 men, including the Voyager’s skipper Captain Duncan Stevens, a subsequent Royal Commission somehow overlooked the uncomfortable truth that Stevens was a heavy drinker. Three years later Pearl the Girl, who was then working as Solly’s secretary, mentioned to her boss that she had once moved in the same circles as Stevens, and was well aware of the captain’s fondness for the bottle. Solly responded with one of the paper’s all-time most notorious headlines:

DRUNKEN DUNCAN

As a result Chandler was hauled before a reconvened Royal Commission, where he was required to reveal the source of his information. To his eternal credit he refused, despite being threatened with an indefinite jail sentence. He was eventually fined $1000.

Chandler’s reputation was further enhanced when he campaigned for the abolishment of capital punishment in Victoria, and Truth described the eventual hanging of prison escapee Ronald Ryan as ‘legal murder’. Later Solly supported the attempts of Dr Bertram Wainer to have Victoria’s abortion laws changed.

During this campaign one of Solly’s star reporters, Evan Whitton, exposed the corruption rife among senior officers of the city’s police force, who were accepting bribes from backyard abortionists. One of the men jailed as a result of Whitton’s digging was head of the Homicide Squad, Chief Inspector Jack Matthews, along with fellow officers of similar rank. When his sentence was over in the late ’70s, Matthews left Pentridge Prison jobless and without prospects. Truth threw him a lifeline and offered him a job as the paper’s consumer affairs reporter on one condition, that he occupy the same desk used by Whitton years earlier during the investigative series that put him behind bars. Matthews gratefully accepted. By the time he joined the paper I was working as news editor and found him an avuncular, pipe-smoking presence in the office, always anxious to please, as he waded through the lengthy and often tedious letters from readers complaining of some minor rip-off by a used car outfit. I often wondered how, as a former guardian of the law, he viewed the dope smoking and other mildly illegal activities conducted daily in his presence by his new colleagues.

Back in the late ’60s Solly came up with the idea of an agony column specifically for the sexually disoriented and naive, and called it, somewhat clumsily, Heartbalm. For years to come the first question people would ask me when I revealed I worked for Truth was: ‘Are the Heartbalm letters genuine?’

The answer I always gave was that some of them were… and some of them weren’t. A classic genuine Heartbalm letter came from a young lady who wrote: ‘I rubed his think, he intercoursed me and now I am prenate.’ Another, inexplicably, complained: ‘He shagged me, then we had intercourse.’

Most of the less-than-genuine letters, though, were written by chief sub-editor Bill Murray, who spent his weekends in a bizarre form of split identity. He would write the problems on the Saturday and the solutions on the Sunday. Frank Robson, undoubtedly the most talented writer on the paper, and his wife, Lynn, were invited to Murray’s house for dinner one Saturday night, the tipping point for the Heartbalm editor’s identity crisis.

Frank remembers: ‘Bill came to the door in his pyjamas. It was around 7 pm, so Lynn and I thought this a little odd. But he explained that he remained this way for the entire weekend, it was simpler like that.’

Frank found out why as the evening progressed, and the amount and variety of liquor consumed escalated to near terminal proportions. Bill, it turned out, was that rarest of creatures, a disciplined alcoholic. Not a drop touched his lips during the week, but alcoholic hell broke loose at weekends. Perhaps it had something to do with the weekly stress of becoming simultaneously a sexual innocent and a fount of all carnal wisdom.

Sir Arthur Rylah, the Victorian Government’s Chief Secretary, and a man whose pomposity was exceeded only by his prudishness, decided immediately after Heartbalm appeared that its provision of sexual advice constituted a grave and hideous danger to the morals of Truth’s readers. Rylah instructed the Crown Solicitor to mount a prosecution on the grounds of obscenity. Inconveniently the CS came back and announced there was nothing obscene about Heartbalm. So Rylah tried the Fraud Squad, on the premise that the letters could not possibly be genuine, and were thus defrauding the public. The Fraud Squad weren’t so sure, and, displaying either great naivety, or deep contempt for Rylah’s demands, announced they would be visiting the Truth offices in La Trobe Street on a particular Monday morning to ascertain whether or not the letters were genuine. Legend has it that Solly sent every member of staff home on the preceding Friday, with orders for them to instruct all their friends, neighbours and families to suddenly acquire a form of sexual deficiency and to describe such deficiency in a letter to the paper. Suffice to say, when the somewhat embarrassed Fraud Squad members arrived on the Monday they were confronted by sacks of letters piled ceiling high. Sir Arthur found himself once again in ignominious retreat. But he scored a pyrrhic victory later when Truth began running photographs of scantily clad girls, some of whom, shocking to relate, were displaying a hint of nipple. Consumed with disgust at such flagrant displays of the female form, Rylah insisted, successfully for a period of years, that all such bodily protrusions be concealed behind an expanse of black ink, wide enough to ensure the moral safety of those foolhardy enough to pursue close examination. These became known as Rylah bars, thus confining the only successful part of Sir Arthur’s legacy to the realms of cover-up.

Solly Chandler’s inspired stewardship of Truth increased circulation above 450,000 and left a legacy that was still there when I joined. However by 1971 Murdoch had tired of Chandler’s colourful excesses, and gave him 24 hours to clear his desk. Solly sued for wrongful dismissal, but before he could pursue his grievance in court he died suddenly aged 57.

By now the world was catching up with Truth and making it look old hat. Even women’s magazines were covering the same territory of high-profile divorces and scandalous affairs. What was once exclusively the paper’s domain was now fair game for a variety of newspapers, magazines and even TV programs, many of them prepared to go out even further on the limb of salacious gossip. Truth’s hypocritical brand of prurient burrowing and scandalised horror was becoming laughably outmoded and was typified by the use of the appalling phrase ‘love baby’. While the rest of the world had come to terms with the unremarkable fact that the occasional baby might be born out of wedlock, Truth was still splashing such unholy occurrences across its pages as if they might signal the end of civilisation.

Besides which Murdoch was finding his one-time cash cow an embarrassment. By the time he let Truth go in 1980 he was much more occupied with his burgeoning TV empire than with print media. And Truth wasn’t helping with its constant exposure of the politicians with whom he was negotiating to secure his move into electronic media. More than one of them appeared on our front pages with their trousers, at least figuratively speaking, around their ankles.

So Rupert might eventually have chosen expediency over smut, but in the final analysis there is no doubt the Old Whore of La Trobe Street is where he first cut his teeth, and embarked on a career that eventually earned him fear and loathing and respect across several continents, as he spread Australia’s tabloid epidemic to the rest of the world. All this before a UK parliamentary committee found him an ‘unfit person’ courtesy of the UK phone hacking affair.

My arrival at Truth in 1973 coincided with the paper’s first stuttering decline into raucous irrelevancy, following on from Solly Chandler’s reign. My first impressions, gained during the Flying Leotards Affair and John Grant and David Dark’s disastrous liquid welcome, may have been spectacularly unexpected, but before too long I settled into my new career as a gutter journalist. There was little point in being ashamed of it, it paid well, and involved more sheer joy and laughter than any previous jobs I had experienced. So I decided to embrace it, warts and all, and after a while, when I attended functions requiring a name being pinned to my jacket, I would often change the wording: Adrian Tame, Truth to Adrian Tame, Gutter Journalist, so nobody was under any illusions.

The first few weeks on the paper were a whirlwind of trauma, excitement and fear of the unknown, all driven by the desperation of having to make a go of it. The trauma stemmed from a horrific road accident involving my six-year-old daughter, Drostie. The accident happened two weeks after our arrival in Australia, and left her in hospital for weeks.

I will never forget the kindness of management at Truth, who moved my wife Ann and me into a hotel near the hospital, paying our bill. They also sent a huge bouquet of flowers, and told me not to bother returning to work until I was confident Drostie was going to recover. All this became one of the reasons I first fell in love with the paper, and always defended it fiercely against allegations it was little more than a criminal refuge for the journalistically unbalanced.

Offsetting, at least to an extent, the heartbreak of daily visits to the hospital, and seeing Drostie lying broken in a bed for weeks on end, was the excitement of the stories in which I became instantly involved. One of the very first was an investigation into a stray dogs’ home which was allegedly selling canine carcasses to a glue factory at a considerable profit. An anonymous caller had tipped off the paper, claiming the home’s employees were snatching dogs off the street, knocking them on the head, and whisking their corpses off to the factory.

Back home in the UK such bizarre claims would have been discounted immediately as the ravings of some emotionally unstable dog lover. ‘No story,’ the powers-that-be would have decided; too complicated and probably libellous anyway. But for Truth it was bread and butter. We seized upon bizarre claims and unstable informants with alacrity. So Paul Edwards assigned me, and a photographer called David Sproule, to investigate. David, at least initially, was a little flash for me, given to peace signs and over-use of the word ‘man’.

When I asked him the breed of two brilliant blue and red parrots that flashed across his windscreen on the way to the dogs’ home, he turned to me and said: ‘God’s confetti, man.’ That sort of flash.

But he was streets ahead of me in the tabloid arts of spending Rupert’s money, and deciding on ways of investigating the veracity or otherwise of our story.

The walls of the dogs’ home were too high to see over, and we could hardly front up at reception and ask how much money they were making from turning canine corpses into glue. So David identified a neighbouring, two-storey house overlooking the home as our main chance. At his prompting I knocked on the front door and offered $20 to the old lady who answered. For this largesse she granted us unrestricted use of an upstairs bedroom looking directly over the wall into the dogs’ home. As we settled into chairs dragged up to the window, David with his camera poised ready, I felt vaguely embarrassed. This was the way they conducted themselves on badly made cop shows; serious newspapermen were above such behaviour.

But amazingly it worked. Before long David had taken photographs of the dogs’ home yard where a large truck was parked, its business end partially covered by a tarpaulin. Legs and torsos, heads and tails, all unmistakably canine, poked out from beneath the tarp. I wasn’t at all sure what this proved, but agreed with David that we should pursue the truck and see where it ended up – hopefully at a glue factory.

David had parked his high-performance Monaro on the street below, and as soon as the truck showed signs of movement, we were down the stairs, into the car, and off in pursuit. The first time this happened we lost the truck in the traffic after chasing it down a few backstreets. David didn’t seem disappointed. In fact he was elated.

‘Means we can spin it out till tomorrow,’ he told me.

What did I know? As a stranger to tabloid land I was happy to take instructions from someone so obviously familiar, as David was, with the black arts. Back in the UK photographers took their orders from journalists, but this was somehow different.

On the second day we followed the truck again (there seemed to be an endless supply of dead dogs on the streets of Melbourne) and as we turned a corner everything suddenly escalated out of control. The truck stopped in the middle of the road, and I saw the driver through the rear window of his cab, turn and look in our direction. He grabbed something long and metal and jumped down onto the street.

‘Jesus, he’s got a gun. Get down,’ David yelled, simultaneously throwing the Monaro into reverse. Partly out of curiosity, and partly because I simply didn’t believe him, I disobeyed David’s order to duck. Instead I watched in horror as the driver put what was unmistakably a rifle up to his shoulder and took aim at our windscreen. By now we were skidding in reverse back around the corner, half on and half off the pavement.

A few days into my new career in the gutter someone had aimed a gun at me. I simply couldn’t believe it was happening. As we sped away I was filled with a mixture of elation at our escape, and sheer incredulity that people pulled guns on one another in broad daylight on busy streets.

Christ, this really was the wild frontier! Wait till I told the blokes back home.

The wash-up was something of an anticlimax. We hurried back to the office, told Paul Edwards what had happened, and gave him the phone number inscribed on the cab door of the truck. Paul was obviously used to dealing with people who pulled guns on his reporting staff. Within minutes he had organised for David and me to visit the company’s premises for an explanation and apology from the managing director. We got more than that. We were offered a bribe to keep the story out of the paper.

By now my mind was reeling at the sheer madness of all this. Guns, bribes and even an offer to fire the driver involved. I didn’t want this any more than I wanted the bribe, so the story duly ran, under the heading:

DRIVER PULLS GUN ON TRUTH MEN

HELL RIDE FOR TWO

Indisputably memorable as the entire episode had been, was it really what I had signed up for? This wasn’t the kind of journalism I was used to. But then again, it was twice as much fun, twice as dangerous, and nearly twice as well remunerated.

Along with my colleagues on Truth, I never tired of pointing out to our boring, staid neighbours, reporters on Murdoch’s The Australian newspaper, that the fruits of our antics paid their wages. We not only occupied the same building, at 402 La Trobe Street, we were on the same floor, shared the lift and reception area, and were separated from The Australian editorial offices by a narrow corridor. Occasionally this proximity produced wildly entertaining consequences.

Because The Oz employed fewer photographers than Truth, our snappers were sometimes dragooned into covering jobs for The Oz when their numbers fell short. On one such occasion Spider Funnell was assigned to take a portrait of a high-society notable named Pamela Warrender at her palatial home. She had just been recruited to write a blue-blood column for The Australian, which required the portrait to go at the head of her column. Earlier on the day in question Ms Warrender spent the morning at the beautician. Returning home, she spent hours selecting the most appropriate outfit.

As the appointed hour for Spider’s arrival approached, she dithered about where best to pose – in her beautiful garden? Or perhaps against a scholarly backdrop of book-lined shelves in her elegant sitting room.

Finally the knock came on the front door. She made one last stop in front of the hall mirror, and opened the door with a radiant smile.

Half hidden by a camera pressed into his face was a tall, bulky figure. Before she had time to greet him and invite him inside, Spider barked two words: ‘Pamela Warrender?’

‘Yes, that’s me, why don’t you…’ Suddenly there was an explosion of light in her face as the camera flash went off. Before she had time to recompose herself and blink the blinding light out of her eyes, the man with the camera had turned and taken off down the garden path at 200 kilometres an hour.

Nobody had thought to tell Spider that his assignment wasn’t just another Truth door-knock-and-run job.

Much less amusing was my own moonlighting encounter with another of Murdoch’s less boisterous publications, The Sunday Telegraph. Working from The Australian offices, I would occasionally spend a Saturday earning a few extra dollars covering Melbourne for the Sydney paper.

I learned rapidly that the parochial nature of The Sunday Telegraph meant that a Melbourne story had to be of earth-shattering magnitude before they were interested. Which was fine by me. I was required to be on call in the unlikely event that something south of the NSW border was of remote interest to their news desk, but other than that, it was good money for sitting quietly, reading a book, and hoping the phone wouldn’t ring.

On the occasion in question a man called Owen Thomson, one of Rupert’s right-hand men in Sydney, and editor-in-chief of The Sunday Telegraph, phoned me just as I was about to head off home at the end of the day. I had no idea who he was, and when he requested I stay back and cover some far-flung assignment that was going to run late into the night, I responded accordingly.

‘Sorry, mate, you don’t pay me enough to bother with that,’ I told him.

There followed an immediate barrage of verbal obscenity on the end of the line, and then the question:

‘Who the fuck are you?’

‘Adrian Tame. Who the fuck are you?’

‘Owen Thomson, editor-in-chief. What the fuck do you do?’

‘I’m news editor at Truth. Why?’

‘Because you won’t be on Monday morning. You’re fired.’

And then the phone went dead. For once I decided silence was the better part of valour, and did nothing. My job was still intact on the Monday, and I assumed Thomson had forgotten all about our brief encounter. But it still concerned me for a day or two.

New Idea and TV Week were other highly respectable Murdoch publications, and came under the umbrella of Southdown Press, which was also the parent company for Truth. The company’s head office, just across Flagstaff Gardens from us, on the edge of the CBD, was close enough for regular visits from editor-in-chief Ian Rae, known universally as The Pig. The nickname had to do with some of his less-than-savoury personal habits, one of which involved him in deep and unashamedly public excavations of his nasal cavities.

Ian was one of the few of Murdoch’s hierarchy to treat Truth as anything other than an inconvenient and sordid appendage. Few but The Pig ever soiled their professional souls by venturing into our territory.
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